7%

KO/

PN
<
CITY OF NOVATO
CALIFORNIA

PLANNING COMMISSION
MEETING MINUTES

901SHERMAN AVENUE
NOVATO, CA 94945

Monday, May 23, 2022 - 7:00 pm

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
The Planning Commission meeting began at 7:00 PM.
Commission Present: Commissioner Bill Crockett, Commissioner Dan Dawson,

Commissioner Justin Derby, Commissioner Curtis Havel, Commissioner Lia Heath, and
Commissioner Peter Tiernan

Commission Absent: Commissioner Ronald Gerber

Staff Present: Steve Marshall, Planning Manager; Brett Walker, Senior Planner; Chris
Blunk, Public Works Director; Jeffrey Walter, City Attorney; and Christie Crowl, Planning
Commission Special Legal Counsel (via Zoom)

B. APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon a motion by Commissioner Dawson and second by
Commissioner Derby, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to approve
the final agenda.

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Havel, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: None
ABSTAIN: None
ABSENT: Commissioner Gerber
Motion carried.
C. PUBLIC COMMENT
NONE
D. CONSENTITEM

D.1. Approval of PC Minutes of March 28, 2022 (BC, DD, RG, CH, LH)

Page | 1 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon a motion by Commissioner Crockett and second by
Commissioner Derby, the Planning Commission voted 5-0-1-1 via roll call to approve
the minutes with the revisions requested by Commissioner Havel, including additional
text to paragraph 7 on page 4 regarding hearing noticing described by Planning
Manager Marshall and paragraph 10 on page 4, which should state “uniquely
situated” and not “uniquely situation.”

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Havel, and Heath
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: Commissioner Tiernan

ABSENT: Commissioner Gerber

Motion carried.

E. UNFINISHED AND OTHER BUSINESS
NONE

F. PUBLIC HEARING

F.1. LOCKE URBAN LOT SPLIT APPEAL OF APPLICATION REJECTION &
INCOMPLETE DETERMINATION P2022-029; TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP APN 146-
150-68; 560 TRUMBULL AVE

Request: Conduct a public hearing to consider an appeal of the Community
Development Director’s decision to reject an application for an urban lot split and
determination that said application is incomplete relating to the proposed subdivision
of the property located at 560 Trumbull Avenue into two (2) parcels.

Senior Planner Walker presented the staff report, described the application type, reason for
rejecting the application, and reason for deeming the application incomplete. He introduced
Christie Crowl, special legal counsel to the Planning Commission, who was participating in the
meeting via Zoom teleconference.

Planning Manager Marshall described the staff report attachments and other correspondence
that was received subsequent to the posting of the agenda and staff report and noted these
items were available for review by the public at the hearing.

Counsel Crowl described the reason for her presence at the meeting and advised the Planning
Commission regarding her independent advice to the Commission.

Counsel Crowl stated she disagrees with staff regarding their first recommendation regarding
the rejection of the SB 9 application. She commented that SB 9 preempts the City from
applying its own processes. However, she agreed with staff’'s second and ultimate decision to
reject the application on basis that it is incomplete since applicant has failed to provide required
documentation. Therefore, it would be appropriate for the Commission to deny appeal on the

Page | 2 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

basis the application is incomplete. She recommended adopting the draft resolution without
findings No. 1 and 2.

Chair Tiernan asked the Commission if they had any questions prior to the applicant’s
presentation.

Commissioner Dawson asked how the City would determine the presence of a wetland if said
wetland has been filled by the unpermitted work.

Senior Planner Walker acknowledged the site has been disturbed and it would be difficult to
determine extent of the water feature or the presence of a defined wetland. Staff has discussed
the matter, but have not arrived at a conclusion.

Commissioner Dawson stated it appears there was a wetland here and questioned how
regulatory agencies fold into the matter.

Counsel Crowl noted the threshold questions before the Commission include whether the
application is complete and whether SB 9 applies. If and when the applicant submits sufficient
evidence on wetlands to complete their application then the matter could come back to the
Planning Commission.

City Attorney Walter made comments regarding his role in the hearing and addressed the
purview of the Planning Commission and their decisions for this meeting. He noted the
applicant claims it is the City’s burden to prove the property is ineligible for SB 9. He stated
the City contests that claim and provided supporting reasons. He also restated City staff’'s
determination regarding rejection of the application and determination that the application is
incomplete.

Commissioner Derby asked a question regarding the difference of opinions between City staff
and Counsel Crowl regarding rejection of the application.

Counsel Crowl clarified that SB 9 is a ministerial process requiring either an approval or denial
of a complete application. If a proposal meets the criteria of an SB 9 project then the City
cannot apply its regulations developed for non-SB 9 permits. SB 9 preempts the Municipal
Code section cited by staff to reject the application.

Commissioner Havel asked a question regarding a hypothetical scenario of land disturbances
on a property completed without permits and a subsequent entitlement request.

City Attorney Walter stated the remedies available to the City are not affected by the position
articulated by Counsel Crowl regarding SB 9 — the City can independently pursue the zoning
violations. He clarified legal nonconforming conditions versus illegal nonconforming uses and
conditions. He stated under SB 9 staff would be authorized to condition a lot split on correction
of illegal conditions. He stated the violations are addressed at the end of the process instead
of rejecting the application at the front end.

Chair Tiernan asked a follow-up question about the basis of litigation.

City Attorney Walter described the basis of the litigation by the applicant, Ms. Locke.

Page | 3 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commissioner Crockett made comments regarding work done at the site, the typical sequence
of such work, and the application submittal. He observed the question is how to
comprehensively manage water on site - a question usually answered prior to conducting
grading.

City Attorney Walter described the sequence of events surrounding the Locke matter.

Commissioner Derby asked if the Drainageway Agreement was recorded and whether a title
report was required for a grading permit.

Public Works Director Chris Blunk responded the Agreement was recorded and title reports
are typically not required for a grading permit.

Chair Tiernan asked the applicant to make a presentation.

Elizabeth Brekhus, attorney for the applicant, introduced herself and made a presentation,
stating her disagreements with City staff determinations and decisions. She restated positions
represented by Counsel Crowl. She alleged the City has denied the SB 9 application on the
basis it is incomplete. She provided an overview of issues experienced by Ms. Locke due to
drainage issues — falling trees, sink holes, and lost part of a driveway. She took exception to
the hypothetical situation discussed by Commissioner Havel and City Attorney Walter. She
noted the grading permit form did not request disclosure of agreements and reiterated the City
issued a grading permit. She reviewed a PowerPoint presentation. She concluded her
presentation by asking the Commission to grant the appeal.

Commissioner Derby asked Ms. Brekhus whether she was retained by the applicant when the
parcel was annexed into the city.

Ms. Brekhus stated she did not represent the applicant at that time.

Commissioner Derby asked to confirm the applicant signed the drainage agreement when the
site was annexed into the city.

Ms. Brekhus commented that Locke thought drainage was natural condition. However, in 2018
much more dramatic water was being taken on by the property.

Chair Tiernan requested that Ms. Brekhus clarify statements regarding flooding, wetlands, and
the City responsibilities regarding SB 9.

Ms. Brekhus addressed the application submittal requirements, the City’'s completeness
determination, and the burden of responsibility for determining SB 9 compliance. She stated
the burden rests on the City.

Chair Tiernan asked additional questions regarding Ms. Brekhus’ understanding of the intent
of the applicant’s SB 9 proposal.

Ms. Brekhus responded the intent is to convert an existing art studio to a living unit.

Page | 4 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commissioner Havel clarified the hypothetical situation he raised earlier was not specific to
the appellant’s property.

Chair Tiernan made a disclosure regarding a site visit to the property - he viewed it from the
street. Chair Tiernan also mentioned his involvement on the Planning Commission when the
site was annexed into the City.

The public comment period was opened. There were no public comments. The public
comment period was closed.

City Attorney Walter clarified the hypothetical situation he and Commissioner Havel discussed
earlier in the evening. He also clarified the Attorney General’s position on the question of
assessing a parcel’s eligibility for SB 9 — it is a parcel specific analysis. He reiterated the City
has different ways to address zoning violations.

Counsel Crowl disagreed with Ms. Brekhus’ restatement of her positions. Counsel Crowl
reiterated her recommendation that the City was within its authority to reject the SB 9
application on the basis it is incomplete — staff has not changed its position.

Commissioner Derby asked questions regarding the two agreements - Drainageway
Management Plan and Steam Management Plan. He questioned the if agreements were
violated then how does this equate to a zoning violation.

Planning Manager Marshall noted the agreements are an outgrowth of the pre-zoning action
approved in 2000. The pre-zoning was based on provisions in the Zoning Ordinance. He
noted the adoption of conditions of approval, including the drainageway agreement. He said
the agreement is an extension of the Zoning Ordinance since its conditioned through the pre-
zoning process.

City Attorney Walter followed-up with references to pre-zoning ordinance No. 1431 and the
conditions of approval included therein. He stated a violation of the agreement is a violation of
the Zoning Ordinance.

Planning Manager Marshall included follow-up information regarding planning staff's
involvement in the zoning violation issue during the review of the SB 9 application.

Commissioner Derby asked if there was any resource agency involvement in creating the
agreement.

Planning Manager Marshall stated the file records do not indicated agency review, but the
documents acknowledge a natural waterway.

Commissioner Derby asked how a citizen would address flooding on their property, especially
if there is a drainage management program.

Planning Manager Marshall stated staff would expect a resident to contact the Public Works
Department to discuss the drainage issue, particularly if there is concern about drainage from

Page | 5 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

a city system. A city system typically serves a larger area — don’t want people making
adjustments to those systems. He noted there were no prior complaints about drainage at the
property.

Commission Havel made comments regarding agreements, historically submitted documents,
and other resources available to the public. He disclosed that he made a site visit but did not
enter the property. He acknowledged receipt of the applicant's submittal materials. He
supported following Counsel Crowl’s recommendation.

Commissioner Derby confirmed the two threshold questions and suggested the Commission
discuss these items separately.

Commissioner Dawson read finding No. 3 of the draft resolution noting this finding sticks to
completeness question.

Commissioner Health disclosed that she made a site visit and asked to clarify who had the
burden to demonstrate whether a wetland exists and what is the burden - are photos, a map,
and expert report sufficient.

Senior Planner Walker noted the typical process to review environmental constraints on a site,
such as wetlands or habitat. If there are potential constraints present, then either the applicant
submits a special study prepared by qualified professional or the city hires a consultant to
complete a biological opinion.

Planning Manager Marshall expanded on the various public resources available to identify
wetlands and waterways. He stated these resources are not comprehensive. Staff looks for
indicators of wetlands and habitat, noting it does not take a biologist to identify indicators. If
there are indicators then it is appropriate to hire a professional to make the determination. The
City needs the ability to require studies. He noted SB 9 is crafted around SB 35’s qualifying
criteria and is intended to avoid environmental impacts — it is the legislature’s way of deeming
applications ministerial. There is a burden to prove-up on conditions. The legislature did not
intend to allow housing development to occur at the expense of wetlands and waterways.

Commissioner Crockett disclosed that he made a site visit and commented on the site within
its surrounding context. He stated the pond was a working element of the site — a staging area
for drainage. He felt the term denial versus rejected was being stretched.

Chair Tiernan stated he was suspicious of the use of SB 9 in this instance.
Commissioner Heath reiterated her understanding of the situation, suggested the applicant
should have pulled permits, and was unsure whether it was fair to say wetlands were

destroyed.

Commissioner Derby noted people get permits to change waterways. There were avenues
available to the applicant.

Commissioner Dawson noted the area near the applicant’s property has been developed since
1971 and there have been no sudden changes in conditions.

Page | 6 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

City Attorney Walter made comments regarding the resolution as presented and options for
the Commission.

Commissioner Derby made a motion to approve the draft resolution denying the appeal and
omitting findings no. 1 and 2.

The motion was seconded by Commissioner Dawson.

Commission Action: Upon a motion by Commissioner Derby and second by
Commissioner Dawson, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to adopt
the resolution with an amendment striking findings No. 1 and 2 from Section 4.

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Havel, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: Commissioner Gerber

Motion carried.

G. GENERAL BUSINESS

G.1. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY REPORT: CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROGRAM FISCAL YEAR 2022/23 PROPOSED NEW PROJECTS

Request: Pursuant to California Government Code Sections 65401 and 65402,
consider providing a report to the City Council regarding whether six proposed new
projects as a part of the City’s Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Year 2022/23
are consistent with the Novato General Plan.

Public Works Director Blunk presented the staff report describing the six new projects
proposed to be added to the City’s CIP program, mentioned other projects currently in the
CIP, and noted Public Works accomplishments over the past year.

Commission Action: Upon a motion by Commissioner Dawson and second by
Commissioner Crockett, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to adopt
the resolution finding the CIP for Fiscal Year 2022/23 is consistent with the General

Plan.
AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Havel, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: None
ABSENT: Commissioner Gerber
Motion carried.

Page | 7 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

H. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS

Planning Manager Marshall advised the Planning Commission of an upcoming meeting
dates regarding the Novato’s Housing Element update.

L ADJOURNMENT
The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 9:11 PM.

| HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly adopted at the Planning
Commission meeting of July 11, 2022.

ISteve Marshall/

Steve Marshall, Planning Manager

Page | 8 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

